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March 2025 
        

 

gresham gets a post      
office and a name* 
       by mark moore 

 
 

Looking to draw in more business, Benjamin Rollins, 

a one-armed storekeeper who lived about 10 miles 

east of Portland, wanted his store to also contain a 

post office. He theorized that if residents were 

visiting the store more regularly to obtain their mail, 

he thought they would be inclined to pick up an item 

or two they might need around the house.  
 

Ben penned a letter to then-Post Master General, 

Walter Q. Gresham, a former Colonel in the Union 

Army, offering a simple exchange – a post office for 

the name of the town. Oregon’s fourth largest city got 

its name in 1884 when the town was given the name 

of Gresham in honor of the Postmaster General.  

    
* Shown above is a copy of a receiving cancel from a 
cover which is the oldest known cancellation for 
Gresham from Sept. 6, 1886. Steve King Collection. 
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Earliest known photograph of Gresham, Oregon showing Main and Powell Valley Road 
looking east, circa 1885. At that time, Main Avenue was called Damascus Road which 
extended from Fairview in the north to Damascus in the south. Powell Valley Road, which 
was little more than a trail, stretched westward to the Willamette River in Portland and 
eastward towards the town of Sandy. 

 

 

In earlier days, the Gresham area was the agricultural capital of Multnomah County, 

Oregon. The town's economy was fueled largely by farming which included berries, 

grapes, and vegetables. European immigrants settled in the area beginning in the 

1850s and Asian immigrants began to settle in the area in the 1880s. 

 

Jackson Powell, who was the area’s first settler, came to the area in 1851 and he filed 

a donation land claim with his new bride in 1852. In the 1870s, a religious Camp 

Meeting Ground was established near present-day Powell and Roberts Avenue and 

this became a popular stop-off point for people traveling to Portland. Roberts Avenue 

is one block east of Main.  

 

Historian G.W. Metzger wrote that by 1884, there were 52 families living within a 

three-mile radius of the town that would become Gresham. 
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Copy of the original application for a post office for the town of Gresham, 
submitted March 27, 1884 and signed by the proposed postmaster, James F. 
Roberts. Also, the nearest post office not on the route, Cleone, now Fairview, 
is three and ½ miles north. 
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Copy of the diagram showing the scribblings of the proposed location of the Gresham post 
office (by the center x) which was submitted with the original application in 1884. Nearby 
post offices are indicated showing Rockwood to the west of Gresham and Powell Valley to 
the east. These post offices were on the East Portland to Eagle Creek route. 

 

From the application, Powell Valley Post Office was three-and one-half miles east of the 
proposed Gresham Post Office and the Rockwood Post Office was four miles to the 
northwest. Powell Valley was established on Feb. 13, 1873 and it was discontinued Feb. 
28, 1903. Rockwood was established on March 14, 1882 and it was discontinued on Feb. 
28, 1903.  
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Benjamin Franklin Rollins is credited with 

bringing the first post office to Gresham, and in so 

doing, named the town. In the mid-1880s Samuel 

Metzger and his step-son Ben Rollins built a 

General Goods store on the southeast corner of 

Main Avenue and Powell Valley Road. 

Constructed with logs and roughhewn planks, the 

building measured only 16 feet by 24 feet. The 

store is seen in the far right in the photo on page 3. 
 

Rollins' business partner, James F. Roberts, was 

also one-armed, and he was named Gresham’s 

first postmaster. The four-block area surrounding 

what is now Main Avenue and Powell Boulevard 

was known as “The Crossroads.” The Crossroads 

offered a hotel, feed mill, blacksmith shop, church 

and a school. Everything a weary traveler or a 

hopeful homesteader might need. 
 

According to Post Office Publications, Gresham briefly had a second post office under the 

name of Camp Ground which operated from May 19th to June 9th in 1884. This post office 

was closed when postal officials in Washington D.C. realized that they had already approved 

another post office named Gresham at the same site on May 15, 1884. No known 

cancellations from Camp Ground are known to exist.  
 

Later, Samuel Metzger went on to run another General Goods store on the northwest corner 

of Powell and Main. In 1887, the son of early Gresham settlers Boone and Hannah Johnson, 

William Johnson, purchased Ben Rollins’ store and later expanded the business to include a 

bakery in 1892. As early as the 1890s, farmers used the dirt path that would become Powell 

Valley Road to take their wares to market.  
 

Officials in Portland saw a need for supplying fresh water to its residents. An elaborate 

water purification and delivery system was built through Gresham to transport water from 

the Bull Run Watershed to the residents of Portland and the surrounding areas in 1893. The 

first telephone line in Gresham was installed in 1894 when the Portland Water Bureau ran a 

line from Portland to the headworks at Bull Run. Local residents could use the phone only 

for an emergency. 
 

Then, in 1902, the first public telephone was extended from Portland to Lewis Shattuck’s 

Store in Gresham where the switchboard was installed and the Portland-to-Estacada, Oregon 

Water Power & Railway Company pulled into Gresham. The only others to install a phone 

were Dr. J. M. Short, Judge W. W. Cotton, the construction company working on the railroad, 

and the local drug store. Subscriptions for phone service were a hefty $5.00 a year or $1.00 a 

month. The switchboard was moved to the Gresham Drug Store the following year.  
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Real photo postcard of the transporting of a water pipe at Powell Valley Road and Main Avenue 
in Gresham in July 1910. Gresham began supplying Bull Run water to its residents that year. The 
First State Bank building is in the background. 
 

The citizens of Gresham elected Lewis Shattuck as the first mayor in 1904. Articles of 

incorporation for Gresham were submitted and they were approved early in 1905. 
 

   

 
Real photo postcard published by Pictorial Views of the Gresham Post Office at Miller Avenue 
and Powell, circa 1945. Postally unused. It was built in 1941 and it was later expanded in 1989. 
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editor’s note 
Several years ago, we began a series of articles under the category of Hometown Histories. 
The Gresham area is very rich in history. Some of the information in this issue comes from 
Postal Historian Charles Neyhart and thanks to Steve King for providing a copy of the 
oldest known cancellation for Gresham from Sept. 6, 1886.  
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